Case No. S247095

SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

MAY - 7 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

ALAMEDA COUNTY DEPUTY SHERIFF'S ASSOCIATION et al., Plaintiffs and Appellants,

ν.

ALAMEDA COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSN. AND BD.

OF THE ALAMEDA COUNTY EMPLOYEES'

RETIREMENT ASSN. et al.,

Defendants and Respondents;



SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 1021, et al.,
Interveners;

BUILDING TRADES COUNCIL OF ALAMEDA COUNTY et al., Interveners and Appellants.

After an Order by the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District,
Case No. A141913, Contra Costa County Superior Ct. Case No. MSN12-1870

ISSUE PRESENTED

Does the Contracts Clause of the California Constitution require that any modification to public employees' pension benefits resulting in a disadvantage to the employees be accompanied by an offsetting new advantage?

II

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The framework for analyzing whether changes to vested pension rights are constitutional is simple: the Court must look at whether the change results in a detriment to employees and, if it does, must then determine whether the change is reasonable and necessary for an important public purpose. Saving money is not an important public purpose. In determining whether a modification is reasonable, this Court has said any detrimental change must be material to the theory of a pension *and* offset by a corresponding new advantage. This framework, often referred to as the California Rule, prevents the State from changing employees' vested pension benefits to save money to use elsewhere – any change must be essentially cost neutral to survive constitutional scrutiny.

The appellate court failed to recognize the Petitioners' vested right to have terminal pay and other pay items included in their pension calculations pursuant to a court-approved settlement and the representations ACERA

made to its members. The court found a vested right to a pension using a definition of compensation earnable that did not require the retirement board to determine whether pay items included were paid to enhance retirement benefits. Then the appellate court said the State could impair that right without providing any corresponding new advantage. Specifically, the appellate court stated, "much of *Marin's* vested rights analysis – including its rejection of an absolute need for comparable new advantages when pension rights are eliminated or reduced – is not controversial, and we do not disagree with it." (*Alameda County Deputy Sheriffs' Association v. Alameda County Employees Retirement Association* (2018) 19 Cal.App.5th 61, 121 ("*ACDSA*."))

This third attempt by the First Appellate Court to erode the California Rule breaks with decades of this Court's vested rights jurisprudence.\(^1\) (Marin Association of Public Employees v. Marin County Employees' Retirement System (2016) 2 Cal.App.5th 674 ("MAPE"); Cal Fire Local 2881 v. California Public Employees' Retirement System (2016) 7 Cal.App.5th 115 ("CalFire.")) By removing the corresponding new advantage requirement, the appellate court invites the State to impair vested rights to divert money to politically favored spending priorities. Tellingly,

The First Appellate District recently issued a fourth decision involving judicial pensions which cited approvingly to *MAPE* and *Cal Fire*. (*McGlynn v. State* (2018) 21 Cal.App.5th 548, 551 FN 3.)

Governor Brown admitted this fundamental change in California's vested rights doctrine meant that, during the next recession, the government would "have the option of considering pension cutbacks for the first time in a long time."²

The appellate court suggested broader reductions in pension benefits could be permissible if predicated on a fear of system collapse. The appellate court erred in narrowly focusing its reasonableness analysis on the funding status of each pension system, instead of the employer's overall financial condition, despite the fact that the pension is the employer's obligation. More fundamentally, the court's consideration of the need to save pension costs ignored Ninth Circuit and California precedent under the U.S. and California Constitutions that cost savings do not justify impairing financial obligations. Preserving the California Rule is consistent with longstanding Contracts Clause jurisprudence holding public agencies cannot eliminate or reduce their financial obligations without invoking the power of the Bankruptcy Court in a Chapter 9 bankruptcy proceeding.

This Court should reverse the appellate court's decision in this case and affirm to the lower courts that it meant "must" when it held any modification to public employees' vested pension rights "resulting in

Pensions will be 'on the chopping block' in next recession, Jerry Brown says, S a c r a m e n t o B e e , J a n u a r y 1 2 , 2 0 1 8 (http://www.sacbee.com/news/politics-government/the-state-worker/article1 94434479.html)

disadvantage to employees, *must* be accompanied by comparable new advantages." (*Allen v. Board of Administration* (1983) 34 Cal.3d 114, 120.) ("*Allen II*") (Emphasis added.)

Ш

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. PETITIONERS' PENSION BENEFITS

Petitioner ACDSA is the employee organization representing deputy sheriffs in the County of Alameda. Petitioners Rudolph, Medeiros, Nelson, and Hornsby are, or were, employees of the County of Alameda and represented by the ACDSA in employee relations. The County of Alameda maintains an employee retirement plan under the County Employees' Retirement Law ("CERL") administered by the Alameda County Employees' Retirement Association ("ACERA.")

Petitioners' retirement benefits are a combination of a retirement annuity based on their accumulated contributions, supplemented by a pension established with county contributions sufficient to equal a specified fraction of their "final compensation." (Ventura County Deputy Sheriffs' Assn v. Board of Retirement (1997) 16 Cal.4th 483, 490 ("Ventura.") To calculate an employee's retirement amount, ACERA must determine whether items paid to the employee are "compensation" under Government Code section 31460 and "compensation earnable" pursuant to Government Code section 31461.

Government Code section 31460 defines "compensation" as "the remuneration paid in cash out of county or district funds, plus any amount deducted from a member's wages for participation in a deferred compensation plan . . . but does not include the monetary value of board, lodging, fuel, laundry, or other advantages furnished to a member." Government Code section 31461 defines "compensation earnable" and, as discussed below, was modified significantly by the Public Employees' Pension Reform Act ("PEPRA.")

For years, ACERA included in employees' compensation earnable standby pay, call-back pay, and cash received for cashing out sick leave and vacation hours. It did so pursuant to a settlement agreement between ACERA, employee organizations, and the County of Alameda, executed after the *Ventura* case. The cost of including these pay items in employees' pension benefits was included in ACERA's actuarial assumptions, and factored into the contribution rates ACERA charged employees and their employers. As such, ACERA's members have *paid* for the benefit of having these pay items included in their pensions.

This changed when PEPRA was enacted. ACERA announced, effective January 1, 2013, it would no longer include these pay items in compensation earnable. This change reduced employees' pension benefits. The affected employees received no new offsetting advantages in return for these reductions.

B. PEPRA REDEFINED "COMPENSATION EARNABLE"

PEPRA became effective January 1, 2013, drastically changing the laws governing public employees' pension benefits. This suit challenges PEPRA's changes to Government Code section 31461, which provides the definition of "compensation earnable" used to calculate employees' pension benefits.

Before PEPRA's enactment, Government Code section 31461 defined "compensation earnable" as "the average compensation as determined by the board for the period under consideration upon the basis of the average number of days ordinarily worked by persons in the same grade or class of positions during the period, and at the same rate of pay. (Govt. Code § 31461(a).) "The computation for any absence shall be based on the compensation of the position held by the member at the beginning of the absence." (*Id.*) "Compensation, as defined in section 31460, that has been deferred shall be deemed 'compensation earnable' when earned, rather than when paid." (*Id.*)

PEPRA moved the old definition of compensation earnable to its own subsection, then added a subsection (b) to Government Code section 31461, excluding various forms of pay from "compensation earnable." Government Code section 31461(b) provides:

(1) Any compensation determined by the board to have been paid to enhance a member's

retirement benefit under that system. That compensation may include:

- (A) Compensation that had been previously provided in kind to the member by the employer or paid directly by the employer to a third party other than the retirement system for the benefit of the member, and which was converted to and received by the member in the form of a cash-payment in the final average salary period.
- (B) Any one-time or ad hoc payment made to a member, but not to all similarly situated members in the member's grade or class.
- (C) Any payment that is made solely due to the termination of the member's employment, but is received by the member while employed, except those payments that do not exceed what is earned and playable in each 12-month period during the final average salary period regardless of when reported or paid.
- (2) Payments for unused vacation, annual leave, personal leave, sick leave, or compensatory time off, however denominated, whether paid in a lump sum or otherwise, in an amount that exceeds that which may be earned and payable in each 12-month period during the final average salary period, regardless of when reported or paid.
- (3) Payments for additional services rendered outside of normal working hours, whether paid in a lump sum or otherwise.
- (4) Payments made at the termination of employment, except those payments that do not exceed what is earned and payable in each 12-month period during the final average salary period, regardless of when reported or paid.

C. IMPLEMENTING PEPRA REDUCED PENSION BENEFITS

Under the auspices of implementing PEPRA, ACERA excluded certain previously included pay items from Petitioners' "compensation earnable." These exclusions applied to new and legacy members alike. Specifically, ACERA announced it would exclude on-call and call-back pay, pay for performance benefits, vacation and sick leave sold back at retirement, and various other payments. (Minutes of the January 17, 2013 Meeting of the ACERA Board of Retirement, p. 6 (42 CT 012336.)) These changes significantly reduced employees' pension benefits. (*See* Miles Declaration in Support of Appellants' Motion for Stay of Appeal filed May 29, 2014, ¶ 5 (\$1,000/month reduction); Medeiros Declaration in Support of Appellants' Motion for Stay of Appeal filed May 29, 2014, ¶ 14 (\$850/month reduction.))

In implementing PEPRA, ACERA declared it would no longer include a large portion of members' vacation cash outs in their pension benefits. (*See* ACERA Members: How Does the New CA Pension Law Affect You?, p.1; 24 CT 007168.) Instead, ACERA announced compensation earnable would only include vacation employees sold back while still employed. (24 CT 007168.)

ACERA also declared sick leave cash outs would no longer be included in Safety members' final compensation. (24 CT 007169.) As a

result, Safety members in ACERA were no longer entitled to include 13 or 39 days of sick leave cash out in their final compensation.

Finally, ACERA announced that many other forms of pay that were previously included in final compensation would no longer count towards members' pension benefits. These forms of pay included: 232 (On-call Duty); 284 (Emergency Response); 316 (Water Quality Analyst Cert); 369 (Pay for Performance); 403 (Election Poll Worker); 405 (Emergency Call Coverage); 452 (Canine Care); 715 (Recruit Bonus); 716 (OneTime Payment); 829 (CWW ERU 24hr Shift OnCall Cov.); 830 (Member, Planning Commission); 912 (Members, LAFC); 913 (Member, Assessment Appeals Board); 914 (Member, Retirement Board); 915 (Member, Board of Equalization); 917 (Member, Board of Dir-Flood Control); CAO (Comp Time Payoff (Alt Wrk Sch); EOM (Employee of the Month (Zone 7); ERR (Emergency Response); 150 (Converted 5D DSA In-Lieu Payoff); ICO (Inlieu Payoff - Court (Expire)); IDO (DSA In-Lieu Payoff (Expire)); INO (Inlieu Payoff (Non Expiring)); IPO (Payoff in Lieu Balance); S00 (Share the Savings \$100); S50 (Share the Savings \$50); S75 (Share the Savings \$75); SBY (Standby); SLC (Sick Leave - Cash Out 20%); SNP (Short Notice Cov. Pay-Zone 7); SS2 (Shift Standby - Shift 2); SS3 (Shift Standby - Shift 3); SS6 (Shift Standby - Shift 6); SS8 (Shift Standby - Shift 8); SSA (Shift Standby - Shift A); SSY (Shift Standby - Shift Y); SSZ (Shift Standby -Shift Z); TSR (Call Back); TRW (Call Back); VMC (Vacation Maximum Cashout); VPO (Vacation Payoff). (*See* County of Alameda: Pay Codes Not Compensation Earnable After January 1, 2013 (24 CT 007174; 37 CT 11017-11025.)

D. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Petitioners filed this action in the Superior Court for the County of Alameda in December 2012, as a petition for mandamus relief requiring ACERA to continue including the disputed pay items in legacy employees' pension calculations. The petition alleged PEPRA impaired Petitioners' vested pension benefits. It sought relief on constitutional and promissory estoppel grounds.

The matter was later consolidated with similar challenges filed in Merced and Contra Costa County, and heard by Judge Flinn in the Contra Costa Superior Court.

1. Trial Court Proceedings and Judgment

The trial court separated the litigation into phases. Phase One was limited to purely legal issues focused on whether pay items expressly excluded from compensation earnable by PEPRA were includable under prior CERL law and whether, if not, legacy members could nonetheless obtain a vested right to have such compensation included.

The trial court issued its decision on May 12, 2014. Along with its decision, the trial court issued judgments specific to each retirement system, and ordered the issuance of related writs of mandate. The court's judgments

denied Petitioners' request to have PEPRA deemed an unconstitutional impairment of the vested rights of legacy members.

The trial court's decision in the case first addressed the "timing issue" – whether compensation had to be earned *and* payable in the final compensation period before PEPRA amended Government Code section 31461. The court determined that cash-outs of leave that were not earned during the final compensation period could not be included in compensation earnable, even before PEPRA was enacted. The court further determined that terminal pay could not be included in compensation earnable, because it was not payable during the final compensation period – only at retirement.

Next, the court addressed whether PEPRA's exclusion of "payments for additional services rendered outside of normal working hours, whether paid in lump sum or otherwise" required ACERA to exclude on-call and call-back pay. On this issue, the court directed ACERA to continue including the pay in legacy members' compensation earnable, "in those limited circumstances where the pay category was previously included and the amount to be included was both earned and required of the employee during his or her final compensation period."

The trial court denied Petitioners' estoppel claims, ruling that promissory estoppel was unavailable on the facts presented.

Finally, the court addressed whether PEPRA changed the definition of compensation earnable by excluding "any compensation determined by the board to have been paid to enhance a member's retirement benefit." The court denied Petitioners' request for relief, ruling in essence any danger of this new exclusion affecting them was pure speculation.

2. The MAPE and CalFire Decisions

While this case was on appeal, the First District Court of Appeal issued rulings in *MAPE* and *CalFire*. Like this case, *MAPE* addressed PEPRA's changes to the definition of "compensation earnable" used to calculate pension benefits. *CalFire* dealt with PEPRA's elimination of "air time."

In *MAPE*, the appellate court ruled PEPRA did not unconstitutionally impair employees' pension benefits because it left a "reasonable" benefit intact. (*MAPE*, supra, 2 Cal.App.5th at p. 707.) In reaching this conclusion, the court opined that a detrimental change to pension benefits need not be accompanied by a comparable new advantage to be deemed constitutional. (*Id.*, at p. 698.)

The MAPE court held this Court misconstrued its own precedent in Allen II, supra, 34 Cal.3d 114, which stated that, to survive constitutional scrutiny, any modification "must be accompanied by comparable new advantages." According to the MAPE court, the 1983 Allen II decision's use of the word "must" simply misstated this Court's prior rulings. (MAPE,

supra, 2 Cal.App.5th at p. 698.) The MAPE court opined it did "not believe the word 'must' was intended to be given the literal and inflexible meaning" the MAPE plaintiffs attributed to it.

As discussed herein, this ruling breaks from decades of precedent requiring any changes to be offset by comparable new advantages. The Court granted review in *MAPE*, and deferred further action pending the decision in this case. (*Marin Assn. Of Public Employees v. Marin County Employees' Retirement Association* (2016) 210 Cal.Rptr. 3d 15.)

The appellate court then issued its decision in *CalFire*, which challenged PEPRA's elimination of the option to purchase "airtime" service credit. Despite finding no vested right to purchase airtime, the court gratuitously affirmed *MAPE* by holding the state was not required to provide a comparable new advantage to offset the loss of airtime even if it was a vested right. (*CalFire*, *supra*, 7 Cal.App.5th 115, 130-31.) The court reiterated *MAPE*'s assertion that this Court did not mean detrimental changes to pension rights *must* be offset by new advantages. This Court granted review in the *CalFire* case on April 12, 2017. (*CalFire Local 2881 v. California Public Employees' Retirement System* (2017) 216 Cal.Rptr.3d 119.)

///

///

3. The Court of Appeal Holds Pension Reductions Need Not Be Offset by New Advantages to Survive Scrutiny

Petitioners timely appealed the decision in this case, as did the Respondents and Intervenors. The matter was argued in December 2017, and the court issued its ruling on January 8, 2018.

The appellate court affirmed in part and reversed in part the trial court's ruling, and remanded the matter for further proceedings. Among other things, the appellate court affirmed the trial court's ruling that terminal pay was not pensionable before PEPRA's enactment, and thus PEPRA did not change how terminal pay was treated with respect to calculating pension benefits. (*ACDSA*, *supra*, 19 Cal.App.5th at pp. 102-103.)

The appellate court found PEPRA impaired employees' vested rights by adding a new requirement that compensation earnable cannot include pay to employees for the purposes of enhancing their retirement benefit. (*Id.*, at p. 110.) This impaired employees' vested right to a pension based on the pre-PEPRA definition of compensation earnable that contained no such requirement. Additionally, the appellate court correctly reversed the trial court's ruling denying Petitioners' estoppel claims, finding the Petitioners were entitled to pension benefits that included the pay items at issue because they relied on representations from their employer and ACERA. (*Id.*, at pp. 128-129.)

IV

LEGAL ARGUMENTS

Petitioners have a vested right to pension benefits based on the compensation earnable they were promised would be included. This means the Petitioners are entitled to pensions based on compensation earnable that included the value of leave cash outs and the other disputed pay items at issue in this case. The appellate court erred in finding no vested right to the inclusion of terminal pay and the other disputed pay items. Vested pension rights are deferred compensation, and cannot be destroyed without impairing a contractual obligation. The appellate court compounded its error by failing to follow this Court's precedent and creating a framework to impair vested rights to obtain financial savings – contravening the Contracts Clause of the U.S. and California Constitutions.

The Contracts Clause exists to protect beneficiaries of States' long-term financial obligations against changes in political opinions and policy goals by successive legislatures. When the federal Constitution was adopted, "the widespread distress following the revolutionary period and the plight of debtors had called forth in the States an ignoble array of legislative schemes for the defeat of creditors and the invasion of contractual obligations. Legislative interferences had been so numerous and extreme that the confidence essential to prosperous trade had been

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