SUPREME COURT
FILED

Case No. S247095

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JUL 2 0 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

ALAMEDA COUNTY DEPUTY SHERIFF'S ASSOCIATION et al.,
Plaintiffs and Appellants,

Deputy

ν.

ALAMEDA COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSN. AND BD.

OF THE ALAMEDA COUNTY EMPLOYEES'

RETIREMENT ASSN. et al.,

Defendants and Respondents;

SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 1021, et al.,
Interveners:

BUILDING TRADES COUNCIL OF ALAMEDA COUNTY et al., Interveners and Appellants.

After an Order by the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District,
Case No. A141913, Contra Costa County Superior Ct. Case No. MSN12-1870

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

Further, the constricted consideration of only the CERL system's funding does not account for the fact that the system's funding level is in significant part a product of the employer's contributions and discretionary actuarial assumptions

(e.g. the discount rate employed, the length of the amortization period, mortality rates.) The post-recession growth of the unfunded liability was caused in significant part by rapid and unexpected changes in actuarial assumptions. For example, CalPERS estimates its three year reduction of the discount rate alone will increase the normal cost as a percentage of payroll by 1 to 5 percent and a 30 to 40 percent increase in their current unfunded accrued liability payments.<sup>11</sup>

The court's reasonableness analysis fails to account for the employing agency's burden to *demonstrate* its impairments were a reasonable and necessary response in light of less drastic measures because "impairing the obligations of its own contracts" is not "on par with other policy alternatives." (*See Sonoma, supra*, 23 Cal.3d at p. 308; *U.S. Trust Co., supra*, 431 U.S. at pp. 30-31; see also *Opinion of the Justices (Furlough)* (1992) 135 N.H. 625, 635-636 ("The contract clause, if it is to mean anything, must prohibit the State from dishonoring its existing contractual obligations when other policy alternatives are available."))

Moreover, this tunneled analysis ignores the myriad of non-impairing alternative measures available to realize equivalent savings. The government can always cut discretionary expenditures or raise revenues, and it can reduce pension payments directly without impairing vested rights. Future pension obligations can be reduced by paying off or down unfunded actuarial liabilities with reserves or one-time revenue, such as the \$9 billion California budget surplus. Reciprocity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>See <u>CalPERS to Lower Discount Rate to Seven Percent Over the Next Three Years</u>, https://www.calpers.ca.gov/page/newsroom/calpersnews/2016/calpers-lower-discount-rate

rules could be modified to prevent unexpected unfunded actuarial liabilities associated with job changes. Employers can reduce staffing levels or negotiate concessionary terms in labor contracts that have significant ancillary reductions in pension liabilities. (*In re City of Stockton, California* (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2015) 542 B.R. 261, 279 (*holding* the plan of adjustment had a substantial indirect impact on pensions because "employee compensation on which pension benefits were calculated had been reduced", "reductions in numbers of City employees", "the contributions to retirement plans . . . was shifted back to the employees," and "pension benefits for new City employees had been reduced" in the labor contracts.))

In addition to violating the Contracts Clause, PEPRA's impairment of pension benefits improperly seeks to supplant Chapter 9 of the Bankruptcy Code as the appropriate mechanism by which a local government may impair financial terms of its contracts, under the supervision of a federal bankruptcy judge. "While the Contracts Clause is a key navigational star in the firmament of our Constitution and economic universe, it is subject to being eclipsed by the Bankruptcy Clause." (*In re City of Stockton*, Cal. (Bankr. E.D. Cal. 2012) 478 B.R. 8, 15.) "For a plan of adjustment to be confirmed as to a class of claims that has not accepted the plan, it must be "fair and equitable" and "not discriminate unfairly." (11 U.S.C. § 1129(b)(1.)) Bankruptcy laws exist to allow municipalities to do that which they cannot do outside of bankruptcy: impair contracts to save money. "While a state cannot make a law impairing the obligation of contract,

Congress can do so. The goal of the Bankruptcy Code is adjusting the debtor-creditor relationship." (In re City of Stockton, Cal., supra, 478 B.R. at p. 16.) If resurrecting the "financial stability of the specific CERL system" or the overall financial condition of a County justified unilateral impairment of financial terms of their contracts, governments would have no reason to petition for bankruptcy—they could simply afford themselves contract modifications without judicial oversight or the inconvenience of treating creditors equally. Moreover, there is no meaningful limiting principal to the MAPE or ACDSA standard. Under these standards the government could unilaterally impair a municipal bond funding a stadium if the stadium failed to produce sufficient revenue to service the bond. The Court should affirm the longstanding principle that a government's desire to save money does not justify impairing its financial obligations.

### D. EVEN IF SAVING MONEY COULD JUSTIFY AN IMPAIRMENT, THIS IMPAIRMENT WAS NOT REASONABLE OR NECESSARY

The State cannot credibly claim its statewide changes to the definition of compensation earnable were reasonable and necessary for an important public purpose – even if reducing Alameda County's pension obligations was a valid public purpose. PEPRA changed the definition of compensation earnable for *all* 1937 Act retirement associations – regardless of whether they were facing financial difficulties. Indeed, the State cites no evidence that it considered ACERA's financial condition, much less tailored PEPRA to address that condition. Moreover, PEPRA *permanently* impaired employees' vested rights,

thus rendering it *per se* unreasonable. Even if the State could impair pensions as a cost-saving measure, it cannot show its impairment of the Petitioners' pensions was reasonable and necessary.

### 1. Changing the Definition of Compensation Earnable Was Not Necessary

The State has not even argued that changing the definition of compensation earnable in Alameda County was necessary – instead, it cited supposed "statewide" funding issues. According to the court, the Governor was "faced with a statewide crisis involving the significant underfunding of public pension systems" when he signed PEPRA into law. (*ACDSA*, *supra* 19 Cal.App.5th at p. 61.) This assertion ignores the fact that 1937 Act retirement systems, like ACERA, are not statewide organizations, or controlled by the State.

1937 Act retirement systems, including ACERA, are independent of each other, administering pension benefits solely for employees of the County or other local entity they serve. (*See* Govt. Code § 31520.) Their funding levels and general financial conditions vary as well.

PEPRA is not tailored to address any financial concerns ACERA may have. There is no evidence the Legislature considered whether ACERA had any financial concerns. Indeed, while the State discussed supposed "spiking" in Alameda County in its petition for review, it cited no evidence showing ACERA is underfunded as a result of "spiking," or that changing the definition of compensation earnable was necessary to address any financial issue. In fact, ACERA's funding level was above 70% when PEPRA was enacted. Moreover,

ACERA has factored the cost of including the disputed pay items in members pension benefits ever since it executed the *Ventura* Settlement. (*See, e.g.,* 23 CT 6854 (Actuarial Experience Study.)) Thus, the State cannot claim its decision to redefine compensation earnable was "reasonable and necessary" to save money – even if saving money was a valid justification for impairing ACERA members' pensions.

## 2. Permanently Impairing Petitioners' Pension Rights Was Not Reasonable

PEPRA permanently altered employees' pension benefits. As such, it does not meet this Court's requirement that any impairments be temporary, with interest running during the period of deferment. (See Olson v. Cory (1980) 26 Cal.3d 532, 539 (to survive scrutiny, the enactment must (among other things) be designed to be a temporary measure, during which time the vested contract rights are not lost but merely deferred for a brief period, interest running during the temporary deferment); see also Sonoma County Organization of Public Employees v. County of Sonoma (1979) 23 Cal.3d 296, 306.)

# E. THE COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL ENTITLES PETITIONERS TO THEIR PRE-PEPRA PENSION FORMULA

The appellate court correctly found that the Petitioners were entitled to have the disputed pay items included in their pension calculations based on the principles of estoppel. (ACDSA, supra, 19 Cal.App.5th 61, at p. 129.) Even if the Court were to determine that terminal pay cash outs were not pensionable before

PEPRA's enactment, estoppel entitles the Petitioners to have these cash outs treated as pensionable income.

### 1. Equitable Estoppel Is Warranted Here

As the State acknowledges, for estoppel to apply, four elements must be present: (1) the party to be estopped must be apprised of the facts; (2) he must intend that his conduct shall be acted upon, or must so act that the party asserting the estoppel had a right to believe it was so intended; (3) the other party must be ignorant of the true state of facts; and (4) he must rely on the conduct to his injury." (City of Oakland v. Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (2014) 224 Cal.App.4th 210, 239.)<sup>12</sup> When a party asserts the doctrine of estoppel against a governmental entity, an additional element applies: "the government may not be bound by an equitable estoppel in the same manner as a private party unless, 'in the considered view of a court of equity, the injustice which would result from a failure to uphold an estoppel is of sufficient dimension to justify any effect upon public interest or policy which would result from the raising of an estoppel." (Id at 240.) Finally, "estoppel cannot lie to contravene any statutory limitation on an agency's authority." (Id. at 243-44.)

In the context of public employee pensions, public policy favors protecting employee and pensioner rights and, therefore, the doctrine of equitable estoppel has been consistently applied in that context.

The cases which have applied estoppel to the narrow area of public employee pensions, have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>SOB, pp. 51-52.

emphasized the unique importance of pension rights to an employee's well-being, and have frequently arisen after employees were included to accept and maintain employment on the basis of expectations fostered by widespread, long-continuing misrepresentations by their employers. In each of these instances the potential injustice to employees or their dependents clearly outweighed any adverse effects on established public policy." (Longshore v. County of Ventura (1979) 25 Cal.3d 14, 28.)

As stated in *Crumpler*: "In a matter as important to the welfare of a public employee as his pension rights, the employing agency bears a more stringent duty to desist from giving misleading advice." (*Crumpler v. Board of Administration* (1973) 32 Cal.App.3d 567, 583; see also Baillargeon v. Dept. of Water and Power (1977) 69 Cal.App.3d 670, 680.))

There are many ways a public employer can create entitlement to pension benefits. One way is through collective bargaining. (Retired Employees Assn. of Orange County, Inc. v. County of Orange (2011) 52 Cal.4th 1171, 1182.)

Retirement system boards can also enter into binding contracts, and an intent to make a contract is established where a governing board ratifies, adopts, or approves a contract. (Chisom v. Bd. or Retirement of County of Fresno Employees' Retirement Assn. (2013) 218 Cal.App.4th 400, 414.) Alameda County and ACERA did this when they executed the Ventura Settlement.

Promises to provide pension benefits can also be inferred from personnel policies (*Hunter v. Sparling* (1948) 87 Cal.App.2d 711, 721-22), and communications directed to those who will rely on them, are another way to

established implied vested rights. (Kashmiri v. Regents of the University of California (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 809, 828-33.) Importantly here, the conduct of providing a benefit coupled with assurances that those benefits may be relied upon gives rise to an enforceable implied or quasi-contract. (Requa v. Regents of the University of California (2012) 213 Cal.App.4th 213, 226-28.)

ACERA and the County used each of these methods, and in keeping with the principles and the public policy recognizing the "unique importance of pension rights," the Supreme Court has recognized and affirmed the application of equitable estoppel when needed to preserve the pension bargain struck by public employers, and especially in cases where "employees were induced to accept and maintain employment on the basis of expectations fostered by widespread, long continuing misrepresentations." (*Longshore*, *supra* 25 Cal.3d at p. 28.)

The Petitioners offered substantial evidence of the formal adoption of an express contract between ACERA and the County – the *Ventura* Settlement – which obligated ACERA to include the disputed pay items in its members compensation earnable. Further, the record includes communications between ACERA and members describing – and specifically guaranteeing – these pay items will be include in ACERA members' pensionable income. Thus, even if the Court determines there is a technical legal deficiency that prevents establishing a vested contractual right, these facts are enough to warrant the application of equitable estoppel to preserve the pension bargain.

The *Ventura* Settlement, to which both the County and ACERA are parties, states "compensation earnable" will include "leave paid as salary or in lieu of paid leave and pay for hours ordinarily worked by the employee in the employee's permanent work assignment, mandated by the County of applicable [MOU.]" (23 CT 6770.) The Settlement provides 'vacation leave and/or sick leave paid as a lump sum shall be recognized as final compensation only to the extent that it is earned during the final compensation period and, in the case of a three-year final compensation period, shall be the annual average of the leave earned." (23 CT 6770.) It does not require members to cash that leave in service, instead of at retirement.

Again, the State misconstrues the nature and effect of ACERA's *Ventura* Settlement as tantamount to a strawman lawsuit scheme to circumvent the CERL.<sup>13</sup> To the contrary, ACERA's post-*Ventura* suit was a class action over a bona fide dispute, and the resulting settlement agreement was subject to court approval. The State's insinuation of fraud impugns the court's judgment of the ACERA *Ventura* Settlement.<sup>14</sup>

Similarly, the State's efforts to distinguish *Driscoll v. City of Los Angeles* (1967) 67 Cal.2d 297, are unavailing. The State unpersuasively contends "misadvis[ing]" widows about their eligibility to receive a pension is materially different than misadvising pensioners about which items of special compensation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>SOB, p. 55

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>See SOB, p. 55

are includable in their pensions<sup>15</sup>. As the State cannot escape the holding of *Driscoll*, the Court should affirm the lower court's estoppel ruling.

The *Ventura* Settlement says it has a "binding effect" and applies to any "past, present and future" affiliates, boards, divisions, officers, representatives . .. assigns and partners" of the parties. (23 CT 6780.) The parties agreed the settlement was "fair and reasonable," provided "predictability to both [ACERA's] members and the County," and thus could be relied on by Petitioners. Indeed, a superior court approved the *Ventura* Settlement as fair and reasonable.

The elements of an estoppel claim are satisfied in this case. The evidence showed ACERA members relied on and expected their pension benefits would include the disputed pay items, as a result of the *Ventura* Settlement, ACERA Board resolutions and policies, and ACERA's communications regarding the inclusion of those pay items in pension benefits.

### 2. Estoppel Does Not Contravene Statutory Limitations Here

The Court should reject the State's claim that estoppel would contravene statutory limitations in this case. Even if the Court finds the disputed pay items were not required to be included in pensionable income before PEPRA's enactment, ACERA had the authority to include them. Moreover, even if the Court finds the CERL did not grant the discretion to decide whether the disputed pay items were pensionable income, it should uphold the appellate court's ruling that ACERA was empowered to include the disputed pay items in pension

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>SOB, p. 53.

benefits pursuant to their plenary authority to administer their retirement system.

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